35 granin

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,361

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 24 1988

E.F. HUTTON & COMPANY INC.,
Defendant - Appellant,

ν.

CHRIST ROUSSEFF,
Plaintiff - Appellee.

CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

INITIAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANT - APPELLANT

KUTAK ROCK & CAMPBELL

William G. Campbell Jo Lanier Meeks Joseph A. Ingrisano G. Wayne Hillis, Jr.

4400 Georgia-Pacific Center 133 Peachtree Street, N.E. Atlanta, GA 30303 (404) 222-4600

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.

C. Timothy Corcoran, III

One Harbour Place Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 223-7000

Attorneys for Defendant E.F. Hutton & Company Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of this case are set forth in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals decisions in Rousseff v. E.F. Hutton Co., Nos. 87-3290, 87-3560, slip op. at 2628-29 (11th Cir. May 2, 1988) and Rousseff v. E.F. Hutton Co., Nos. 87-3290, 87-3560, slip op. at 2625-26 (11th Cir. May 2, 1988) (copies included in the appendix hereto). The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the judgment entered by the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida on Rousseff's federal and Florida common law claims due to the District Court's failure to submit the issue of proximate cause to the jury. Rousseff, 87-3290, 87-3560, slip op. at 2626. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has certified the following question to this Court:

In an action under the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act, Fla. Stat. § 517.301, 517.211, is the claimant required to prove that his loss was proximately caused by the Defendant's fraud?

Id.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Applying Florida statutory construction principles, this Court should find that a claimant under the Florida

Securities and Investor Protection Act is required to prove that his loss was proximately caused by the defendant's fraud, regardless of the claimant's remedy. Like Rule 10b-5, its federal counterpart, § 517.301 of the Florida Act requires proof of proximate cause. The Florida legislature intended for the Florida Act to be construed consistently with federal law. Section 517.301 was enacted in direct response to the recognition of an implied right of action under Rule 10b-5. In Rule 10b-5 actions, the federal courts overwhelmingly require that a claimant show his injury was proximately caused by the defendant's fraud. Sound reasoning and public policy also mandate such a holding from this Court.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

The issue before this Court involves the interpretation and construction of §§ 517.301 and 517.211 of the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act (the "Florida Act" or the "Act"). Legislative intent controls the construction of Florida statutes. See St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982). In ascertaining legislative intent, courts should first look to the language of the statute. Heider v. United States, 521 F. Supp. 422, 425 (M.D. Fla. 1981); St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co., 414 So. 2d at 1073; Hanley v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 323 So. 2d 301, 304 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), aff'd, 334 So.2d 11 (Fla. 1976). When the language of the statute is insufficient, however, courts must look to other sources to ascertain the legislature's intent. For example, courts often consider the legislative history of the statute. See Heider, 521 F. Supp. at 425; Sheffield-Briggs Steel Products, Inc. v. Ace Concrete Service Co., 63 So. 2d 924, 926 (Fla. 1953).

In addition, if the Florida statute is patterned after a federal law or the law of another state, the Florida statute will be construed by Florida courts consistently with the interpretation given the prototype law by the federal courts or the sister state's courts. See International Brotherhood of Painters and Allied Trades, AFL-CIO, Local 1010 v.

Anderson, 401 So. 2d 824, 831 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Pasco
County School Board v. Florida Public Employees Relations
Commission, 353 So. 2d 108, 116 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Advisory
Opinion to the Governor, 96 So. 2d 541, 546 (Fla. 1957) (en banc).

A law should be construed together with any other law relating to the same purpose such that they are in harmony. Courts should avoid a construction which places in conflict statutes which cover the same general field. The law favors a rational, sensible construction.

City of Boca Raton v. Gidman, 440 So. 2d 1277, 1282 (Fla. 1983). Applying these rules of construction leads to one conclusion -- that proximate cause is a requirement of a claim brought under §§ 517.301 and 517.211 of the Florida Act.

I. The Florida Act Is Silent As To The Elements Of Proof.

Following the rules of construction stated above, the language of the Florida Act must be examined first. Section $517.301^{1/2}$, the antifraud provision, describes the conduct for which a person may be held liable under the Florida Act. However, the language of § 517.301 is silent as to whether

The text of Fla. Stat. § 517.301 is reproduced in the Appendix. Rousseff brought his claim under § 517.301(1)(a).

the conduct must be the proximate cause of the claimant's injury.

Like § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "1934 Act"), its federal counterpart, the Florida antifraud provision does not list any of the elements that a plaintiff must prove to show a violation. Rather, the elements of a § 517.301 violation have been determined by case law. See, e.g., Haygood v. Adams Drugs, Inc., 1977 Blue Sky L. Rep. (CCH) ¶ 71,359 (Fla. 2d DCA May 27, 1977) (defendants conduct must have induced purchaser to invest); cf. Florida v. Houghtaling, 181 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 1965) (scienter not a requirement under §§ 517.07, 517.12).

Likewise, § 517.211² of the Florida Act, the remedies provision, does not address the required elements of proof. Subsection (2) provides the remedies for violations of § 517.301 but, like § 517.301 and the federal statutes, is silent as to whether proximate cause is an element of proof. Because the statutory language does not indicate whether proximate cause must be proven under these provisions, this Court must look outside the letter of the Act for guidance. The history of the Florida Act and analogous federal securities laws and the cases interpreting them show that proximate cause is and was intended to be a required element of proof.

The text of Fla. Stat. § 517.211 is reproduced in the Appendix.

II. The Legislative History Behind The Florida Act Points To A Proximate Cause Requirement.

Legislative intent controls the construction of Florida statutes. See St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414
So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982). In ascertaining the legislature's intent, courts consider the history of the Act, the evil to be corrected, the purpose of the enactment, and the laws then in existence bearing on the same subject. See State v. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981); Sheffield-Briggs Steel Products, Inc. v. Ace Concrete Service Co., 63
So. 2d 924, 926 (Fla. 1953); State Board of Accountancy v. Webb, 51 So. 2d 296, 299 (Fla. 1951).

This Court previously has recognized that the legislature intended the Florida Act to maintain close consonance with the federal securities laws. In Oppenheimer & Co. v. Young, 456 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1984), vacated on other grounds, 470 U.S. 1078, 105 S. Ct. 1830, 85 L.Ed.2d 131 (1985), the Court considered whether the Florida Act expressly prohibited arbitration of disputes arising under the Act. Analyzing the relationship between federal and state securities laws, the Court stated:

[W]e are persuaded that it was the intent of the legislature, in enacting the Florida Securities Act, to rely on federal laws and enforcement efforts in the securities field and to cooperate with those efforts in formulating Florida law.

It is clear . . . that the legislature intended that Florida securities laws be hand-in-glove with federal securities laws and that Florida purchasers of securities be granted the full range of civil remedies offered by both Florida and federal securities laws. It is a well established rule of statutory construction that statutes or parts of statutes borrowed from other jurisdictions will normally be given the same construction in Florida courts as the prototype statute is given by courts in other jurisdictions. Flammer v. Patton, 245 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 1971). rule is, of course, not binding and is subordinate to the cardinal principle that legislative intent is the polestar of statutory construction. Tyson v. Lanier, 156 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1963). Here, however, the rule is particularly apt because we have a clear statement from the legislative text that the legislature intended to maintain close consonance with federal legislation. (Emphasis added)

Oppenheimer, 456 So. 2d at 1177-78. $\frac{3}{2}$

The history of § 517.301 confirms that the legislature intended to follow federal precedent in creating an antifraud provision. Initially codified in 1933, the Florida

This Court in Oppenheimer ruled that the legislature's intent to follow federal law closely was evidenced by its enactment in Ch. 16174, Laws of Fla. (1933) §§ (5) & (6) (now § 517.241 (3) & (4)). Section (5) granted investors the same civil remedies provided by laws of the United States for purchasers of securities under such federal laws; section (6) granted "jurisdiction to the [Florida] courts ... to hear civil suits concerning securities violations of federal laws to the degree the courts had jurisdiction to hear civil suits concerning securities violations of the laws of Florida." 456 So. 2d at 1177-78.

Securities Act generally regulated the registration of securities. Prior to 1965, Florida did not have in its statutory scheme a private cause of action for fraudulent statements or omissions made outside a prospectus. In 1965, § 517.301 was enacted by the Florida legislature. By that time, federal law had implied a private right of action for fraud in favor of securities purchasers and sellers. See 3 L. Loss, Securities Regulation 1763-1764, and nn. 260-63 (2d Ed. 1961) (collecting cases).

More importantly, when § 517.301's predecessor statute was enacted, the case law construing Rule 10b-5 actions was well developed and proximate cause was clearly an element of the federal implied right of action. See, e.g., Brennan v. Midwestern United Life Insurance Co., 417 F.2d 147, 154 (7th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 989, 90 S. Ct. 1122, 25 L.Ed.2d 397 (1970); Globus v. Law Research Service, Inc., 418 F.2d 1276, 1291-92 (2d Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S.

The text of former Fla. Stat. § 517-301 is reproduced in the Appendix. The major difference between the 1965 provision and the present version of § 517.301 is language in the latter making the section applicable to offers to purchase or sell securities.

A private right of action under § 10(b) of the 1934 Act and Rule 10b-5 was first recognized in 1946. Kardon v. National Gypsum Co., 69 F. Supp. 512 (E.D. Pa. 1946). By 1961, four Courts of Appeals, including the former Fifth Circuit, and a number of district courts in other circuits had recognized the existence of a private remedy under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

913, 90 S. Ct. 913, 25 L.Ed.2d 93 (1970); Vine v. Beneficial

Finance Co., 374 F.2d 627, 635 (2d Cir. 1967); Estate

Counseling Service, Inc. v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &

Smith, Inc., 303 F.2d 527, 532 (10th Cir. 1962). The

federal courts required a claimant to prove proximate cause

because the implied right of action under Rule 10b-5 was

recognized as essentially a tort claim established by proving

the tort elements. Kardon v. National Gypsum Co., 69

F. Supp. 512, 513 (E.D. Pa. 1946); Moody v. Bache & Co., 570

F.2d 523, 527 (5th Cir. 1978); Huddleston v. Herman &

MacLean, 640 F.2d 534, 555 (5th Cir. 1981), aff'd in part and

rev'd in part on other grounds, 459 U.S. 375, 103 S. Ct. 683,

74 L.Ed2d 548 (1983).

Section 517.301, as adopted in 1965, tracks almost verbatim the language of Rule 10b-5.6 Because § 517.301 is patterned after a federal law that has received a definite construction, it should receive the same construction as its federal counterpart. The law in this state is clear that where a Florida statute is fashioned after federal law, the Florida statute embraces the construction placed on the federal law by the federal courts. See Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 96 So. 2d 541, 546 (Fla. 1957) (en banc).

The text of Rule 10b-5, promulgated pursuant to § 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is reproduced in the Appendix.

Had the Florida legislature intended to eliminate proximate cause as an element of proof, it could have done so explicitly in the 1965 act. It chose not to. Furthermore, since the enactment of Florida's antifraud statute in 1965, the federal courts, in the former Fifth Circuit and elsewhere, have continued to hold that in a Rule 10b-5 action a claimant must prove proximate cause. See Part III, infra, and cases cited therein. Yet, the Florida Act has been amended several times since 1965 and the Florida legislature, on each occasion, saw no need to alter the Florida Act to carve out an exception to sweeping federal precedent on the issue. See Part III, infra. In fact, it appears from the legislative history of subsequent amendments that the legislature assumes a proximate cause requirement. House Bill $797^{\frac{1}{2}}$ contains the most recent substantive and technical amendments to the Florida Act. Paragraph one of the final staff summary of House Bill 797 states in pertinent part:

This bill creates an act to be known as the Florida Investor Protection Act . . .

(1) It gives the Department of Banking and Finance jurisdiction over sales or

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ House Bill 797 was enacted and became effective on June 11, 1984.

offers to sell investments when such sales or offers involve fraud; boiler room operations involving specified fraud; and acts or practices consituting a violation of the Federal Commodity Exchange Act. Persons found in violation of the act's prohibition against fraudulent investment sales or fraudulent boiler room operations will be guilty of a third degree felony. In addition, persons harmed by violations of these prohibitions are given a right to rescission and damages. (Emphasis added)

Thus, at least in 1984, the legislature expressed its intention that there be a causal link between the harm and the loss. There is nothing to suggest that claimants entitled to rescission under the Act should be treated any differently from claimants entitled to damages. The history of the Florida Act confirms that all claimants, regardless of their remedy, must prove proximate cause.

III. Because § 517.301 Is Identical To Federal Rule 10b-5, This Court Should Construe The Elements Of A § 517.301 Claim Consistently With Federal Law.

Both federal and Florida state courts have acknowledged that § 517.301(1)(a) is virtually identical to federal Rule 10b-5. The court in <u>Hudak v. Economic Research Analysts</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 499 F.2d 996, 999 (5th Cir. 1974), <u>cert. denied</u>, 419 U.S. 1122, 95 S. Ct. 805, 42 L.Ed.2d 821 (1975), addressing the applicable federal statute of limitations, stated that § 517.301 is "'the mirror image of Rule 10b-5:'"

This congruence between the state and federal schemes is not limited to a surface resemblence, but extends as well to judicial elaborations on the elements necessary to make out a case -- requirements differing significantly from those applicable to the Florida common law of fraud.

Id. at 1000. See also Messer v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 833 F.2d 909, 919-20 (11th Cir. 1987)("Section 517.301(1)(a) of the Florida Securities Act [is] patterned after Rule 10b-5", comparing parallel federal and state provisions); Alna Capital Assoc. v. Wagner, 758 F.2d 562, 565-66 (11th Cir. 1985)(substantial similarity in proof required by Rule 10b-5 and § 517.301).

In Zelman v. Cook, 616 F. Supp. 1121, 1127 (S.D. Fla. 1985), the court held that while plaintiff's § 517.301 claim was governed by Florida law, "federal securities law cases are highly persuasive in construing Florida's securities law." Accord Whigham v. Muehl, 500 So. 2d 1374, 1378-79 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (noting similarity between § 517.301 and Rule 10b-5 and relying in part on federal cases).

See also Note, Action Under State Law: Florida's Blue Sky And Common Law Alternatives to Rule 10b-5 For Relief in Securities Fraud, 32 U. Fla. L. Rev. 636, 657 (1980) ("[T]he language of section 517.301(1) closely parallel[s] rule 10b-5....The similarity of section 517.301(1) to rule 10b-5 and the trend of Florida courts to interpret the blue sky law expansively could result in Florida adopting the federal elements of materiality and causality in lieu of privity."); Spencer & Bobroff, Disclosure Under the Florida Securities Act, 23 U. Miami L. Rev. 593, 594 (1969) (section 517.301(1) is "the mirror image of Rule 10b-5.").

Because § 517.301 is patterned after Rule 10b-5, the Court should construe § 517.301 consistently with federal law.

Federal law clearly requires proof of proximate cause in a Rule 10b-5 action. The Eleventh Circuit held in this action that, regardless of whether a plaintiff is entitled to damages or rescission as a remedy, he "must establish that his loss was proximately caused by the defendant's misconduct." Rousseff v. E.F. Hutton Co., Nos. 87-3290 and 87-3560, slip op. at 2630 (11th Cir. May 2, 1988).

The requirement that a 10b-5 plaintiff prove proximate cause, or "loss causation," has long been recognized by the Eleventh Circuit and its predecessor, the Fifth Circuit.

Alna Capital Assoc. v. Wagner, 758 F.2d 562, 565-66 (11th Cir. 1985); Dwoskin v. Rollins, Inc., 634 F.2d 285, 291-93 n.4 (5th Cir. 1981) (the "potentially limitless thrust of Rule 10b-5 [is restricted] to those situations in which there exists a causation in fact between the act and the injury"); Huddleston v. Herman & MacLean, 640 F.2d 534 (5th Cir. 1981), aff'd in part and rev'd in part on other grounds, 459 U.S. 375 (1983); Accord Messer v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 833 F.2d 909, 924 (11th Cir. 1987) (Clark, J. concurring).

The former Fifth Circuit in <u>Huddleston</u> explained the rationale for requiring proof of proximate cause. The <u>Huddleston</u> court recognized the distinction between "transaction causation" and "loss causation" and clearly

required proof of both to establish a Rule 10b-5 claim. The Huddleston decision distinguishes "transaction causation," which is "used to define the requirement that the defendant's fraud must precipitate the investment decision," from "loss causation," which "refers to a direct causal link between the misstatement and the claimant's economic loss." Id. at 549 n.24. As explained by the Huddleston court, the distinction is meaningful and grounded in common sense:

Establishing reliance, however, merely proves that the plaintiff was induced to act by the defendant's conduct. It is a non sequitur to conclude that the representation that induced action necessarily caused the consequences of that action. As we have seen, the general statement of the elements of recovery under Rule 10b-5 requires proof both that the plaintiff relied on the misstatement and that the misstatement was the cause of the loss.

Id. at 547. <u>Huddleston</u> reversed the trial court not only for failing to submit the reliance issue to the jury but also, like the <u>Rousseff</u> case, for failing to submit the question of proximate cause:

Causation is related to but distinct from reliance. Reliance is a <u>causa sine qua</u> <u>non</u>, a type of "but for" requirement: had the investor known the truth he would not have acted. Causation requires one further step in the analysis: even if the investor would not otherwise have acted, was the misrepresented fact a <u>proximate</u> cause of the loss? <u>Herpich v.</u> <u>Wallace</u>, 430 F.2d 792, 810 (5th Cir. 1970). The plaintiff must prove not only

that, had he known the truth, he would not have acted, but in addition that the untruth was in some reasonably direct, or proximate, way responsible for his loss. The causation requirement is satisfied in a Rule 10b-5 case only if the misrepresentation touches upon the reasons for the investment's decline in If the investment decision is induced by misstatements or omissions that are material and that were relied on by the claimant, but are not the proximate reason for his pecuniary loss, recovery under the Rule is not permitted. See Marbury Management, Inc. v. Kohn, 629 F.2d 705, 718 (2d Cir. 1980) (Meskill, J., dissenting). Absent the requirement of causation, Rule 10b-5 would become an insurance plan for the cost of every security purchased in reliance upon a material misstatement or omission. (emphasis added)

Id. at 549. The Rousseff court endorsed <u>Huddleston's</u>
rationale. Both courts recognized the importance of proving
a causal link in order to recover on a 10b-5 claim.

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