IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

CASE NUMBER 72,361

JUN 15 1988 "

CLERK, SUPREME COUL

Deputy Clerk

E. F. HUTTON & COMPANY, INC.,

Defendant - Appellant

V.

CHRIST M. ROUSSEFF,

Plaintiff - Appellee

CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES
COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

THE APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROTHBERG, GALLMEYER, FRUECHTENICHT & LOGAN

Martin T. Fletcher, Sr. Scott T. Niemann Anne Carney

Attorneys for Appellee - Plaintiff, Christ M. Rousseff

Suite 800 915 South Clinton Street Post Office Box 11647 Fort Wayne, Indiana 46859-1647 (219) 422-9454

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The beginning point must be the plain language of the statute. The Florida Act's civil liability provision, Section 211(2), provides that a seller of securities "is liable" for rescission whenever the "sale" was made "in violation of s. 517.301." There is nothing in Section 211 which suggests that the seller is liable only if the violation "proximately caused" the security to decline in value. The text of Section 211, to the contrary, shows that the legislature did not intend to condition relief on the "causes" for a security declining in value. Thus, the plain, unambiguous language of Section 211 does not require proof of "loss causation" as a condition precedent to the purchaser obtaining rescission.

The language of Section 301 does not require proof of loss causation. Hutton agrees that the legislature was "silent" in Section 301 as to any requirement of loss causation. What is prohibited is "any" dishonest, false or misleading statement used as a "means" of selling securities. The sale of securities by means of "any" material false or misleading statement is prohibited; not "any . . . which causes the security to decline in value."

Since the legislature was silent in both Sections 211 and 301 as to any requirement of 'loss causation,' under settled rules of construction this Court must apply and enforce the

statutes as written. If the 'silence' of the statute is to be broken, it must be by the legislature, and not by the Court.

In construing the Florida Act, the Court may look to the interpretation given similar federal laws. The civil liability provision of the Florida Act is most similar to Section 12(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 771(2). This Court, and the Eleventh Circuit in the Rousseff case, have previously looked to Section 12 cases for guidance. In suits under Section 12, proof of loss causation is not required.

Although Section 301 of the Florida Act tracks the language of Rule 10b-5 under the Federal Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), it is inappropriate to look to Rule 10b-5 cases for guidance. Cases under Rule 10b-5 which find a "loss causation" requirement do so because the loss causation requirement functions to limit the amount of damages. "Loss causation" in Rule 10b-5 cases does not flow from the language of Rule 10b-5. Rather, it is deduced from the limitations set by Section 28 of the 1934 Act which requires damages to be limited to "actual damages on account of the act complained of." The Florida Legislature did not adopt such a damages limitation as Section 28 and, hence, must not have intended to adopt the "proximate cause" limitation of Rule 10b-5 cases.

Hutton's "public policy" arguments are irrelevant and specious. The only policy consideration which may properly be taken into account is the policy of the legislature as reflected in the Act. Reading into the statute a "loss causation" condition prece-

dent to the right of rescission would ill serve the policy of the Act.

III.

THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTES DOES NOT REQUIRE PROOF OF LOSS CAUSATION

Α.

The Cardinal Rule of Construction

The issue before the Court concerns the elements of proof required by the civil liability provision of the Florida Securities Act, F.S.A. § 517.211. The issue is one of statutory interpretation. When called upon to interpret a statute, the Court's role is to ascertain and to give effect to the intention of the legislature. All other rules of construction are subordinate to this "cardinal rule." Currey v. Lehman, 55 Fla. 847, 47 So. 18 (1908); Florida Real Estate Comm. v. McGregor, 268 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1972).

Where the intention of the legislature may be fairly ascertained from the language of the statute, the statute must be understood and applied in accord with its words. Thus, where the intention of the legislature appears from clear and unambiguous language, there is no occasion for construction or interpretation.

A. R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (1931). Long ago, this Court observed:

The legislature must be understood to mean what it has plainly expressed, and this excludes construction. The legislative intent being plainly expressed, so that the act read by itself or in connection with other statutes pertaining to the same subject is clear, certain and unambiguous,

the courts have only the simple and obvious duty to enforce the law according to its terms.

<u>Van Pelt v. Hilliard</u>, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693, 694 (1918). This Court's inquiry must, therefore, begin with an examination of the words of the statutes involved.

в.

The Plain Language of Section 211

In large part, Hutton's brief ignores Section 211 of the Florida Securities Act, preferring to dismiss Section 211 as merely "describing" the remedies available for sales in violation of Section 301. Hutton's arguments are unpersuasive, because Hutton fails to deal with the plain language and necessary import of Section 211.

Section 211 is the civil liability provision of the Florida Securities Act. It alone gives rise to the right of rescission. Section 211 is, in fact, seminal to the issue before this Court, because Section 211 defines precisely what plaintiff must prove in any action for rescission under the Act.

Section 211(1) and (2) state what conduct of defendants will render them liable for rescission. These sections provide:

- (1) Every sale made in violation of s. 517.07 or s. 517.12 may be rescinded at the election of the purchaser; and the person making the sale and every director, officer, partner, or agent of or for the seller, if the director, officer, partner, or agent has personally participated or aided in making the sale, is jointly and severally liable to the purchaser in an action for rescission, if the purchaser still owns the security, or for damages, if the purchaser has sold the security.
- (2) Any person purchasing or selling a security in violation of s. 517.301, and every director, officer, partner, or agent of or for the purchaser

or seller, if the director, officer, partner, or agent has personally participated or aided in making the sale or purchase, is jointly and severally liable to the person selling the security to or purchasing the security from such person in an action for rescission, if the plaintiff still owns the security, or for damages, if the plaintiff has sold the security.

F.S.A. § 517.211(1) and (2).

Subsections (3) and (4) then proceed to define precisely "rescission" and "damages." Those subsections provide:

- (3) In an action for rescission: (a) A purchaser may recover the consideration paid for the security, plus interest thereon at the legal rate, less the amount of any income received by the purchaser on the security upon tender of the security. . . .
- (4) In an action for damages brought by a purchaser of a security, the plaintiff shall recover an amount equal to the difference between: (a) The consideration paid for the security, plus interest thereon at the legal rate from the date of purchase; and (b) The value of the security at the time it was disposed of by the plaintiff, plus the amount of any income received on the security by the plaintiff.

F.S.A. \S 517.211(3) and (4).

Hutton asserts that Section 211 does not specify any of the "elements" which must be proven by a purchaser seeking "rescission" thereunder (Hutton, <u>Brief</u>, p. 5). This is clearly erroneous. Section 211 defines precisely what the purchaser must prove to obtain the remedy of rescission. The plaintiff must prove:

- 1. That the plaintiff "purchased"
- 2. A "security" as defined in the Act and
- 3. That the defendant was the "seller;" or one who as "agent of the seller" had "personally participated or aided in the sale" and

- 4. That the "sale" was made "in violation of" one of the designated provisions of the Act (i.e., F.S.A. §§ 517.07; 517.12; 517.301). Where plaintiff relies on Section 301, he must prove the sale was made "by means of" any false statement or omission of a fact which was "material."
- 5. If the plaintiff "still owns" the security, he must prove the date and the amount of "consideration paid" for the security, and the amount of "income received" by him so that upon "tender" of the security he may be granted "rescission" or
- 6. If the plaintiff has disposed of the security, he must prove the date and the amount of the "consideration paid" for the security, the amount of "income received" thereon and the "value of the security" at the time of its disposition, so as to permit calculation of the amount of damages which the legislature stated he "shall" recover.

Rousseff submits that the language of Section 211 is plain and unambiguous. Hutton does not contend otherwise. The language of Section 211 requires the plaintiff to prove that the sale was made "in violation of" one of the designated provisions of the Act. The plain and unambiguous language of Section 211 does not require plaintiff to further prove that the "violation" was somehow a "proximate cause of the securities decline in value."

This point is so important as to bear repetition: Section 211 of the Act does <u>not</u> by its express terms require proof of so-called "loss causation" or "proximate cause" of the loss. Nor is there any claim by Hutton that some words used by the legislature therein are ambiguous, so that upon interpretation, the element of "loss causation" can be read into Section 211.

Recently, this Court warned:

Courts of this state are without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or <u>limit</u> its express terms . . . To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power. (Citation omitted.)

Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984).

Hutton would have this Court read into Section 211 an additional element or condition of proof. The effect of doing so would be to narrow and to limit the scope of Section 211. Plaintiffs could prevail only by proving that the sale violated some provision of the Act, and also proving the violation "proximately caused the security to decline in value." This the Court cannot do consistent with a decent respect for the proper roles of the Courts and legislature. Holly v. Auld, id.; Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693 (1918).

There is much in the language of Section 211 which shows that the legislature did not intend that the remedies therein provided were to be available only upon proof that the violation "proximately caused the security to decline in value." It is appropriate to look to these indicia of legislative intent, for the Court should consider all parts of the statute in arriving at

the intention of the legislature. <u>In Re Opinion to Governor</u>, 60 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1952).

First, in Section 211(1), the legislature provided that where securities were sold in violation of Sections 7 or 12, the purchaser was entitled to rescission or damages as defined in the Act. Section 7 of the Act prohibits the sale of securities without "registration" under the Act. F.S.A. § 517.07. Section 12 prohibits persons from engaging in the business of selling securities unless licensed under the Act. F.S.A. § 517.12. that securities have not been "registered" or the fact that the seller has not registered as a securities dealer or agent are facts which inherently could not impact upon the value of secu-Yet in both these instances, the legislature in Section rities. 211(1) expressly provides that a purchaser may recover in rescission the full amount paid for the security or, if the security has been sold, damages measured by the full difference between the price paid for the security and the value received upon its disposition.

The legislature clearly could not have <u>intended</u> to require purchasers to prove these violations had "proximately caused the securities to decline in value." This is so because the inherent nature of the "violations" is such that it would never be a cause for the security to decline in value. Thus one knows from the language of Section 211(1) that the legislature did intend that the remedies under the Act be available in these instances where the defendant's "wrongful act" could never be said to have "proximately caused the security to decline in value."

In providing the purchaser with the remedy of rescission for sales in violation of Section 517.301, the legislature in Section 211(2) used exactly the same language as it had used in subsection (1). That is, the remedy of "rescission" is available where the sale was made "in violation of s. 517.301." This use of identical words to confer the remedy in each subsection can only suggest that the legislature had the same intention under both subsections with respect to the element of "proximate causation of loss." Had the legislature intended to require proof of "loss causation" in subsection (2) cases, in contrast to cases under subsection (1), the legislature would surely have so provided through the use of some distinguishing phraseology.

Second, the legislature provided a mechanism in the statute by which the defendant could "cut off" a plaintiff's right to sue under Section 211. To cut off the plaintiff's rights, the defendant is required to make, in effect, a statutory offer. The statute provides:

No purchaser otherwise entitled will have the benefit of this subsection who has refused or failed, within 30 days of receipt, to accept an offer made in writing by the seller, if the purchaser has not sold the security, to take back the security in question and to refund the full amount paid by the purchaser or, if the purchaser has sold the security, to pay the purchaser an amount equal to the difference between the amount paid for the security and the amount received by the purchaser on the sale of the security, together, in either case, with interest on the full amount paid for the security by the purchaser at the legal rate for the period from the date of payment by the purchaser to the date of repayment, less the amount of any income received by the purchaser on the security.

F.S.A. \S 517.211(1) (Emphasis added).⁴

The Court will note that the defendant may "cut off" the plaintiff's rights to sue under Section 211 only by an offer of the "full amount" of the consideration paid or the full amount of plaintiff's economic loss and not by a lesser sum where the violation had not "caused" the security to decline in value.

Third, the legislature dealt expressly with the "value of the securities" in its definition of the remedies in subsections (3) and (4) of Section 211. In so doing, the legislature gives no consideration to the factors which "caused" the security to decline or to increase in value.

Where the plaintiff's remedy is rescission, subsection (3)(a) allows a purchaser to recover the full amount of the purchase price paid. There is no suggestion in the language of the statute that plaintiff's remedy would or could be less if the security had declined in value due to factors unrelated to defendant's wrongful conduct.

Where the plaintiff's action is for "damages," a purchaser who has resold can recover the difference between what he paid to acquire the security and "the value of the security at the time it was disposed of" under Section 211(4). Again, the legislature provided for the full difference to be recovered, without making any express allowance for factors which caused the "value" of the security to become whatever it happened to be "at the time of

⁴Although the statutory offer provision appears in subsection (1), it applies as well in suits under subsection (2) of Section 211.

See, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith v. Byrne, 320 So. 2d

436 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) writ discharged, 341 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1977).

disposition." Likewise, a <u>seller who seeks damages</u> under the provision of Section 211 may recover the difference between "the value of the security at the time of the complaint" and price he received upon the sale. Once again, the legislature made no provision for taking into account what factors had "proximately caused" the security to rise in value between the defrauded seller's initial sale and the date the "complaint" was filed. F.S.A. § 517.211(4).5

The legislature must be presumed to have known that securities would fluxuate in value due to a myriad of factors which had nothing to do with the defendant's illegal acts. Had the legislature intended to deny or to limit either the right or the remedy granted by Section 211 by consideration of the "causes" for the securities' decline in value, the legislature could have so stated in Section 211. Yet subsections (3) and (4) of the Act clearly define what "damages" shall be under the Act, and nowhere therein appears any concept that such "damages" are limited to the "decline in value proximately caused by" the defendant's wrongful acts.

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